



Transport Research and Innovation Grants Department for Transport

# Transport Research and Innovation Grants Programme (TRIG) 2024

# **Application Guidance**



### Contents

1.	Introduction	3
2.	Application Process	4
	How to Apply	4
	Application Questions	4
	How your application is assessed	8
	Notification of application outcome	9
3.	Funding Rules	10
	Subsidy	10
	VAT	10
	Payment Schedule	10
	Financial Reporting	11
4.	Dates and Deadlines	12
5.	FAQs	13

### 1. Introduction

The Department for Transport is offering grant funding of up to £45k to innovators for the development of research, technology, products and services that could make a real difference to the future of the UK's transport network.

For the 10<sup>th</sup> programme, as well as their traditional open call, DfT is particularly interested in solutions that address the following challenges:

- Maritime Decarbonisation
- Local Transport Decarbonisation
- Emerging & Critical Technologies
- Nation-Specific Transport Solutions
- Open Call

A total of £1.35 million in grant funding will be allocated to up to 30 awardees. This funding is intended to facilitate the advancement of projects that are currently at an early Technology Readiness Level (TRL). The goal of the Programme is to take research and innovation concepts along the TRL scale to a state of proven feasibility (TRL 4).

TRIG 2024 provides 100% grant funding and is open to all businesses including micro, small and medium-sized enterprises. The competition also welcomes applications from universities and other academic institutions. Applications from local authorities and large organisations will also be considered, however a clear rationale is required as to why the proposed idea cannot be funded by internal resources and/or R&D budget.

We welcome multi-partners / consortia applications; however, a lead organisation must be identified for contractual reasons, and must complete the application form. Funding will be released to only one organisation per consortium; it is the responsibility of the consortium lead to distribute the funding amongst the partners.

The TRIG 2024 Programme will be delivered by Connected Places Catapult (CPC). CPC will play an active role in various aspects of the Programme and will offer successful projects additional business support throughout the grant funding period.

In alignment with the Department for Transportation (DfT)'s Diversity & Inclusion Strategy (2022-2025), the TRIG Programme seeks to drive accessible and inclusive opportunities in the urban, transportation and mobility sectors. The competition will ask applicants to consider their own Equality, Diversity & Inclusion (EDI) practices and how EDI is built into the proposed solution design. This will help foster a future diverse innovation system that enables and inspires improvements in EDI across the United Kingdom.

# 2. Application Process

- 2.1. To apply for the TRIG 2024 Programme, you must be:
  - A business of any size or a university/academic institution; and
  - A UK registered company.
- 2.2. Projects will start in October 2024 and must be delivered by the end of March 2025.
- 2.3. Previous unsuccessful applicants are welcome to apply again with improved and/or revised bids.
- 2.4. Applicants making more than one application will need to demonstrate an ability to deliver the projects concurrently.

### How to Apply

- 2.5. Please note that by applying, you accept that any resulting Grant Offer shall be subject to the provisions of this guidance document and the terms outlined in the Grant Agreement.
- 2.6. Carefully read this guidance document.
- 2.7. Register and complete your application form, which is available via the CPC website. Only information in your application form will be assessed. No other documentation should be attached to your submission unless this is requested.
- 2.8. Applications must be submitted by Tuesday, 21<sup>st</sup> May 2024 at 5pm (GMT). Late submissions will not be considered.
- 2.9. Keep within the maximum word counts noted in each of the sections of the application form.
- 2.10. We welcome and encourage applications from people of all backgrounds and are committed to making our application process accessible to everyone. This includes providing support, in the form of reasonable adjustments, for people who have a disability or a long-term condition and face barriers applying to us. Applicants requiring assistance in completing the application or alternatives forms of accessing the application should contact the project team at <u>TRIG@cp.catapult.org.uk</u> as early as possible (at least 15 working days before the competition closes) during the open application process to allow for appropriate support and sufficient time for the completion of the application.

### Application Questions

2.11. In addition to the information included in the application form, further guidance on what should be included in your response to the application form question is given below. You should also refer to the assessment scoring criteria as that will help to maximise your score.

#### Section 4: Project Proposal

2.12. What is the challenge being addressed by the proposed project? : You must identify which challenge you are applying for. Please note only one challenge area

can be selected, therefore ensure it is the one that your proposal best align to. Please refer to the **Grant Specification document** available on the website for more information on each of the challenge areas.

- 2.13. **Can you describe the problem you are solving? :** This question seeks to understand the main problem you are solving. You must clearly articulate why you consider this to be a high priority challenge for the DfT and why it is a major barrier within the industry. The more scientific evidence you can provide, the better.
- 2.14. What categories does your solution fall into? : This question aims to classify your innovation and will enable us to pair you with the appropriate business support provider and the most suitable peer-to-peer mentor. It will not be used for external communication or scoring purposes. Keep your answer as simple as possible; for example: Software, hardware, application, framework, material, component, infrastructure...
- 2.15. Please indicate which TRL your project is currently at: Technology Readiness Levels (TRLs) measure the maturity of your technology. Are you in the early ideas and research stages, or has your technology been validated and a prototype been developed?

TRIG is designed to support the development of initial prototypes, proof of concept or feasibility studies that demonstrate an innovative solution to transport challenges. In terms of TRL, we would expect projects entering TRIG to be at least TRL 2, with the aim of progressing to TRL 4. This means that basic research would already have been completed prior to applying to TRIG. The aspiration is to arrive at a proof of concept, feasibility, or small-scale prototype by the end of TRIG.

TRL 2: Basic research; technology concept formulated.

TRL 3: Experimental proof of concept achieved.

TRL 4: Small scale prototype; technology validated in a lab or testing environment.

Other TRL': if you think your proposal falls in a higher TRL, then it is not suitable for TRIG. Please contact us as there may be other opportunities available to you.

#### 2.16. Describe your solution and its novelty, how/why is it innovative?

- What is the detailed description of your proposed solution?
- How does your solution specifically address the challenge?
- What cutting edge technologies and/or approaches are you making use of?
- What evidence or data supports the effectiveness of your solution?

Please provide a strong case as to how your innovation meets the challenge set out in the previous question, along with solid supporting evidence.

#### Section 5: Project Management

- 2.17. Please introduce the team that will be involved in the project, highlighting their expertise and background. You should describe the roles, skills, and relevant experience of the project team, including any sub-contractors.
- 2.18. Please complete your Project Plan using the template provided. You should submit a credible project plan with aims, objectives, deliverables, milestones, and associated timescales. Your project plan should provide confidence that your project will be delivered effectively. Please note that your project should be completed by 31<sup>st</sup> March 2025. Ensure that the Project Plan (Gantt chart) clearly outlines the activities or work packages that you intend to deliver as part of your TRIG project.
- 2.19. Please complete your Risk Register using the template provided. Clearly describe relevant risks to this project and how you plan to mitigate them. In a wider sense, you should also demonstrate that you will implement the required health and safety procedures within your project.
- 2.20. Please complete your Project Finances using the template provided. List each person involved, along with their daily rate and number of days worked. Also include other costs, such as equipment, material, and contracting. Please provide below details of how much the project will cost to deliver and how the budget will be spent to ensure value for money.

You can claim up to £45k of your project costs from the TRIG programme. Where the total value of projects is higher than £45k, the additional funding required will need to be directly contributed by the applicants. In addition, all in-kind contributions (cash or otherwise) must be detailed.

You can claim for **direct** project costs, including staff resource, consumables, equipment, lab/testing costs and travel/subsistence. All rates and costs must be competitive and reflect fair market value.

Projects should demonstrate excellent value for money and all costs should be fully justified; the value add for DfT's investment must be clear.

We would expect that reasonable and market-value day rates to be applied to your labour cost. Applicants need to demonstrate why the resource is critical to the delivery of the project.

Subcontracting is permitted, however no more than 50% of the total project cost is permitted to be awarded to a subcontractor registered and/or operating from outside of the United Kingdom.

Staffing resource (labour cost) must be inclusive of overheads and on-costs, including NI and pension contributions.

We would reasonably expect that an amount of approximately £500 is included in your budget to cover expenses for the attendance of TRIG related events, for example the Cohort Launch event and the Showcase Event. All expenditure needs to be evidenced with receipts to justify the spend and this should be taken into consideration when presenting the budgeted amount.

Before completing your project budget, please refer to Funding rules of this document.

#### Section 6: Impact and Sustainability

- 2.21. It is imperative that the funded solution generates a positive impact on the environment, society, and economy, in accordance with the Department for Transport's strategic aims, which are:
  - Growing and Levelling Up the Economy Improve the connectivity across the UK and grow the economy by enhancing the transport network on time and on budget;
  - Reducing Environmental Impact Improve transport users' experience, ensuring that the network Is safe, reliable, and inclusive;
  - Improving Transport for the User Tackle climate change and Improve air quality by decarbonising transport.
- 2.22 What are the societal, environmental, and economic impacts of your project? Use this section to explain how the desired outcomes of the product, service or solution will create positive impact and how impact might be measured.
- 2.23 Please describe the strategy you will implement to ensure that the solution is inclusive and accessible. This is an opportunity to demonstrate your commitment to equality, diversity, and inclusion (E&DI) principles. This could involve, for example, assembling a diverse team and testing ideas with a panel of underrepresented groups.
- 2.24 Connected Places Catapult is collecting equity, diversity, and inclusion (ED&I) data to promote and ensure equality of access for the programme it delivers. This data will help us monitor the performance of efforts to promote ED&I in research and business innovation. All personal data will be processed in accordance with current UK data protection legislation, including the Data Protection Act 2018 and the UK General Data Protection Regulation (UK GDPR).

#### Section 7: Commercialisation

2.25 TRIG projects should have a life beyond the end of the funding offered by this programme. You should be able to show that following successful demonstration

of the feasibility of your idea, you have a thorough understanding of your approach to commercialisation and how this will be delivered. The following information carries a weight of 15% toward your final score.

- 2.26 What is your understanding of the intended market? Your application should demonstrate a clear understanding of your chosen market and be supported by data to support any assumptions about potential market value, size, and access.
- 2.27 What indirect or direct competitors have you identified in the UK and worldwide? This is the opportunity to show that you have understood the competitive landscape and that your innovation brings a Unique Selling Proposition (USP)

#### 2.28 Please describe an achievable route to market.

Is it a Business to Business (B2B) or Business to Consumer solution (B2C)? Who will be your direct and end clients? How do you plan to scale your solution? What is your strategy for market introduction? (business model and promotion) What stakeholder engagement strategy do you consider?

Your application must include an implementation plan that summarises and provides clear steps on how you intend to further develop your product or solution and what your route to market is.

### How your application is assessed

- 2.29 After the deadline, only applications that meet the eligibility criteria and scope of the competition will be assessed. CPC and DfT reserve the right to declare applications as out of scope.
- 2.30 Applications that progress to the assessment and interview stage will be reviewed by expert assessors from DfT and Connected Places Catapult.
- 2.31 Assessors with a broad technical knowledge across different areas of transport and technology will mark your application. You should therefore write clearly in layman's terms, avoiding acronyms and obscure jargon.
- 2.32 A score will be given for each assessment area. In total there are five assessment areas, with different weightings (as listed below).
  Challenge 25%
  Solution 25%
  Impact and Sustainability– 25%
  Commercialisation 15%
  Project Management– 10%
- 2.33 Following the technical assessment of all applications, a number of projects (up to 55) will be shortlisted for interview. The final shortlist of projects to be funded will

be agreed upon completion of all interviews. The final funding decisions are made following approval by the Chief Scientific Adviser to the DfT.

2.34 Applications will be assessed to ensure you have all the appropriate skills and expertise to successfully carry out the project. Should there be several projects with the same scores, we will reserve the right to take a portfolio approach.

### Notification of application outcome

- 2.35 If your application progresses to the assessment stage but is not shortlisted for interview, we will not be able to provide in-depth feedback to all unsuccessful applicants due to the volume of expected applications.
- 2.36 If your application progresses to the interview stage but is ultimately unsuccessful in achieving funding, you will be provided with written feedback.
- 2.37 It is expected the final funding decisions will be made in September 2024. It is the lead applicant's responsibility to inform the other collaborators and partners about any funding decisions.
- 2.38 If you are successful in winning a TRIG grant, you will be sent a conditional grant offer letter and additional documentation that you must sign and return by the deadlines that will be communicated in due course.

# 3. Funding Rules

### Subsidy

- 3.1. The DfT supports investment in research, development, and innovation in transport. Subsidy rules apply to grant schemes like TRIG. In principle, subsidies are not allowed under the UK's various trade arrangements with other countries. However, some subsidies are beneficial to the economy and support growth and other policy objectives. Subsidies can be given to support a wide variety of activities including research and development, environmental protection, and aid for small to mediumsized businesses. The subsidy rules allow for aid to be granted which is necessary to deliver growth and other important objectives.
- 3.2. The funding awarded to successful applicants will be given as Minimal Financial Assistance under the subsidy rules. This allows an organisation to receive up to £315,000 of state support during the current and previous two fiscal years. You will be asked to declare any other public aid which your enterprise and any enterprises linked to it may have received during your current and previous two fiscal years so that we can ensure that any grant support given to you under this scheme does not constitute a subsidy. Public aid includes not only grants but also assistance such as free or subsidised consultancy services, marketing advice etc which were funded by a public body.

### VAT

- 3.3. The payment of this Grant in accordance with this Agreement is believed to be outside the scope of VAT, but if VAT is chargeable, all payments of this Grant will be deemed to be inclusive of all VAT and Connected Places Catapult shall not be obliged to pay any amount over and above the amount of the Grant.
- 3.4. If you expect to pay VAT during the delivery of the research, (e.g. for consultancy/subcontracting charges, material costs and other expenses), and you are unable to recover VAT from HMRC, you must ensure that the cost of these VAT payments is included in the finance section of your Grant Application Form.
- 3.5. Any VAT payment during delivery of research that is not recoverable from HMRC and not identified in the finance section of the Grant Application Form will not be paid under the TRIG programme.

### Payment Schedule

- 3.6. Grant payment is staged. An up-front payment of 60% of the total budget will be awarded to enable the start of the project. The remaining 40% of the grant will be awarded upon:
  - completion of the project and acceptance of the project outputs (final reports and one-pager summaries);
  - completion of the pre- and post-programme questionnaire and programme survey, and

• submission of evidence of expenditure.

### **Financial Reporting**

- 3.7. Upon completion of your project, you will be expected to complete a statement of grant usage form to explain the costs incurred. This should detail staff time utilised, cost of materials, sub-contracting charges, travel expenses and other costs. Please note that only economy-class travel claims will be accepted.
- 3.8. Only costs incurred between project start and end dates will be paid. All claims made in the statement of grant usage form will be checked and the TRIG team may query or ask for further clarifications.
- 3.9. Throughout the project period, you will be responsible for maintaining detailed records and documentation of the costs incurred. Individual items costing £20 or less do not require a receipt. However, the total cost of non-receipted items should not exceed £100.
- 3.10. Your statement of grant usage should be signed and authorised by the highest financial authority in the company.

# 4. Dates and Deadlines

4.1. Please note the dates and deadlines for the competition below. These are indicative timings, but we will endeavour to adhere to this schedule as best as possible.

Competition opens	17 <sup>th</sup> April 2024
Application support webinar	2 <sup>nd</sup> of May 2024
	<i>To register, please see details on the TRIG webpage</i>
Competition closes (application deadline)	21 <sup>st</sup> May 2024 (5pm)
	<i>Please note that late submissions will not be considered.</i>
Phase 1 review: Technical Assessment - Notification to successful / unsuccessful applicants	June/July 2024
Phase 2 review: Interviews with shortlisted applicants - Notification to successful / unsuccessful applicants	July/August 2024
Grant offer letters issued to TRIG 2024 winners	September 2024
TRIG 2024 Projects start	1 <sup>st</sup> of October 2024
TRIG 2024 Project close	31 <sup>st</sup> of March 2025
TRIG 2024 Showcase event	April/May 2025

### 5. FAQs

#### How much funding is available?

The TRIG 2024 programme will fund a maximum of 30 projects up to £45k each.

#### When will payments be made?

Grant payment is staged. An up-front payment of 60% of the total budget will be awarded to enable the start of the project. The remaining 40% of the grant will be awarded upon completion – please refer to Section 4 of this document.

#### Can we add some profit margin?

No. The grant is paid to research a concept or technology, not provide profit. These are early-stage grants to help to provide proof of concept. Therefore, the only claim that can be made is for costs incurred during the research process.

#### Is TRIG subject to Subsidy Control rules?

Yes. TRIG is publicly funded and therefore is subject to the subsidy control regime.

#### What can I include in the project budget?

You can apply for up to £45k of direct costs associated with delivering your proposed project. Eligible costs would be for staffing (including consultancy and subcontracting), materials, equipment, consumables, travel, and subsistence.

# Should overheads be included in the salary rates (within the project budget) or shown separately?

Salary rates should be inclusive of overheads and indirect costs. Please note that salary rates must be justified and appropriate, reflecting market values. Rates will be judged on the level of staff expertise, where they are located and how they compare to market rates. The evaluation panel will assess whether the number of staff days on offer will deliver the proposed solution and whether the number of total staff days offered signifies value for money.

#### What if my project will cost more than £45k?

If the total project costs more than £45k, you will need to contribute the outstanding amount yourselves. Please tell us how you plan to finance this in your budget section, together with any in-kind support that your project is benefitting from.

#### What if my project is benefitting from non-financial in-kind support?

If your project is benefitting from any in-kind support (for example non-paid for use of a service, equipment, place) that will support the advancement of your project please detail and describe these in your budget submission.

#### Do I need to keep receipts?

Yes, you will need to submit relevant receipts/invoices for expenses as evidence of project costs. Before final grant payment is made you will be required to supply receipts for individual items costing £20 or more. The total cost of non-receipted items should not exceed £100. Grant beneficiaries will be required to explain costs incurred including staff time and supply receipts as outlined in the document.

#### How do I evidence staff time spent on the project?

Your statement of grant usage form (completed at the end of the TRIG programme) has a section for you to record staff members, days worked and associated costs. We do not require you to send us timesheets, but we may ask for a breakdown of staff resource and costs on headed paper to corroborate the records on your statement of grant usage. We will request that you keep track of your expenses and will do a review half-way through the programme.

#### My organisation is based overseas. Am I still eligible for TRIG?

You are, as long as you have a UK registered office and the TRIG project will be undertaken in the UK. Furthermore, the resulting technology or solution must be deployed in the UK.

#### Do you accept applications from consortia?

Yes, we do, however you must identify a project lead.

#### I have received a TRIG grant before. Can I apply again?

Yes, we welcome applications from our TRIG Alumni. Please tell us in the application form which programme you were part of and the year.

#### Can I apply with more than one project in the same Challenge Area?

Yes, you can apply for more than one project in the same Challenge Area, but please be mindful of the maximum number of awards per Challenge Area.

#### Can we apply for more than one Challenge Area in this year's TRIG competition?

Yes, you are not restricted as to the number of applications that you submit; these can be in multiple Challenge Areas but please be mindful of the number of awards available in each of Challenge Areas.

# If we are not a UK entity, can we support and collaborate with a partner organisation, rather than lead on a project?

You are welcome to support or collaborate on a UK lead project, subject to the restriction that no more than 50% of any funding can be distributed to non-UK domiciled entities.

#### Can two SMEs jointly apply for TRIG funding?

We need one lead applicant to complete the application form. Connected Places Catapult will 'contract' and distribute the funding to the lead organisation. Should you wish to partner with another SME, that is perfectly acceptable, however we suggest you create your own collaboration agreement.

#### Can a PhD student apply for TRIG?

We will accept an application from a member of academia if they are employed by an academic institution and that their contract is longer than 12 months from the start of the TRIG programme.

# If my innovation could be used in multiple Challenge areas, can I apply to the Open Call for the project to be correctly allocated?

No – you need to decide which Challenge area you wish to apply for, and your application will be assessed under the Scope of that Challenge Area alone.

#### Can you provide details of previous TRIG winners?

Yes – here is a link to the UK Governments website that details all past TRIG winners and a synopsis of their innovation: Gov.UK - TRIG Competition Winners

#### Who owns the IP to the solution?

As the innovator of the solution, you own your own IP. Please refer to the T&Cs available on the TRIG website for further details.

Is it mandatory to have a collaboration or consortium in place to apply for TRIG 24? No, we accept applications from both individual organisations and consortia and each are treated equally in the assessment process.

# If I am successful in being awarded a Grant for TRIG 2024, am I allowed to start my project before the contracted start date of October 2024?

No – although your TRIG project may be part of an overall larger project that is on-going we expect the work directly related to the delivery of your TRIG project, for which you have been given grant funding, be completed between October 2024 and March 2025.

# Am I allowed to claim in my submitted budget all or part of the cost of Public Liability or Employee Liability insurance premiums?

No – Both Public Liability insurance and Employee Liability Insurance (if you employ anyone) are standard business costs that we would expect to be in place whether you gained funding through a TRIG grant award or not.

Good luck with your application!

If you have any questions, please contact us at TRIG@cp.catapult.org.uk